Minutes
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting
November 19, 2012

6:30 PM Chair Bonser opened the meeting and asked all those present to stand for the Pledge of
Allegiance.

Members Present: Mary Bonser, Hal Rafter and Mark Carpenter.

Others: Charles A. Brown Town Administrator, Dawn Wirkkala Secretary, Gail Mills, Chris
Mills, Judy Doughty, Susan Levenson, Korey Ferland, Lorraine Ferland, Romeo Danais, Robert
Sprague, Gary Anderson, Eugene Reed, Peter Perron, Heidi Seaverns, Jim Ovens, Richard
Morrissey, Rhoda Capron, Jason Neuman, Laurie Legard, Pam Kelly, Tom Duffy, Sam
Demeritt, Susan Mooney, Celia Abrams, Deb Kimball, Cheryl Smith, Noel Carlson, David Finn,
Janice Lyle

Appointment of Temporary School Board Member: The Selectmen met with Ms. Gail Mills
and Ms. Lorraine Ferland, candidates for the recent vacated position on the School Board. Mr.
Jack Caldon resigned his position as he moved to another municipality, existing School Board
members were tied two to two on the vote and the Selectmen were needed for a tie-breaking
decision.

Mr. Rafter suggested hearing from the candidates, Gail Mills and Lorraine Ferland prior to
making a motion.

Ms. Mills and Ms. Ferland each reviewed their qualifications and why each would be the best
individual to fill the vacant position on the School Board.

Chair Bonser stated the situation is unusual to appoint a new member from individuals who have
run before and asked if there were others who wanted to speak.

Ms. Doughty reviewed it was most important to have some diversity of individuals on the School
Board. Ms. Doughty stated she served six years on the School Board and diversity of members
is important; both those with students in the system and those without.

Mr. Perron stated he was speaking as a citizen and gave his support to Ms. Mills. Mr. Perron
reviewed her volunteerism with Town Committees and Boards, education work history, and
tasks as an educator and as a Nottingham resident. Mr. Perron stated Ms. Mill received 9.7%
more of the votes than Ms. Ferland.

Mr. Sprague stated Ms. Mills is an educator and leader; specifically regarding the issue of large
ground water withdrawal and her non-tiring efforts to protect it and she has been a constant
support of town Committees and Boards. Mr. Sprague stated the activities that have taken place
over the last couple of days denigrating one of the nominees is unacceptable.

Chair Bonser stated she hasn't received anything denigrating anyone; Mr. Rafter stated it was
denigrating by implication. Mr. Sprague stated almost everyone who runs for Town Government
has run into this situation, hopes that this can be an end to that type of behavior, and also hopes
the Selectmen can use their power to try and stop those kinds of actions.

Mr. Danais stated he is in support of Ms. Ferland stating she is young and aggressive and is ideal
to complete work for Nottingham. She knows the issues already taking place for and with the
School Board and it makes her the best candidate. The votes from the past election should not be
applied as the votes were split between four candidates and it is a faulty method to consider.

Mr. Ferland stated Ms. Ferland has passion for the school and her volunteerism at the school, and
is very committed. She understands budget issues as a parent of a single income family, and her

1 Approved as Amended
12/3/2012



Minutes
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting
November 19, 2012

knowledge of the existing relationships with the SAU, school members, and School Board are a
valuable history.

Mr. Carpenter asked for clarification about the length of the term. It was stated it would be until
the next March 2013 election.

Mr. Anderson stated he appreciates the positive words regarding Ms. Ferland, however, from a
point of process it makes sense for the Selectmen to look at the previous election votes to
determine who should be chosen. Chair Bonser stated that is the usual default position and is
glad to have it stated.

Mr. Ferland stated the opinion of the election of March 2012 are moot, because there were only
two open position and four candidates and it is unknown of how individuals would vote if there
was a different election or a special election with only the two candidates.

Mr. Reed stated the Town is working on the difficult task of budget setting and it is one of the
most pressing needs of the School Board right now. There are time constraints with the budget
process and Ms. Mills's prior experience with the Budget Committee is a valuable tool.

Mr. Mills stated he has known Ms. Mills a long time, watched her get her qualifications and
utilize them in a variety of tasks; she has been able to think outside the box both for teaching and
management positions, which is a valuable tool.

Motion: by Mr. Carpenter and second by Chair Bonser to nominate Ms. Mills for the interim
position on the School Board.

Mr. Carpenter thanked both candidates for their continued interest of being part of the school.
After significant analysis of prior school budgets, Nottingham has experienced significant school
budget increases with a loss of education results, and it is unacceptable. Nottingham students are
suffering, more money is being spent and less education is taking place. The School
Administration is attempting to now raise even more funds to get out of the educational mess;
with no plan for recovery. The School Board needs experience and objective minded leadership
for the betterment of the children. Ms. Mills is a silent selection of the majority of town citizens;
an educator for 22 years, she has worked tirelessly for the town on a variety of important topics,
she has a management background and regarding this topic she is in the best position to do what
is best for the Town and the School. Mr. Carpenter encouraged the Selectmen to vote for Ms.
Mills.

Mr. Rafter stated both candidates have shown they have the needed skills and qualities, shown a
commitment to the town and both would be good candidates bringing valuable approaches to the
School Board. Discussion regarding the prior election has been eliminated by the decision of the
existing School Board members, splitting the vote evenly. Information received over the last
week has shown support of Ms. Ferland and if that is what other Selectmen have heard that is
where the support should be. Mr. Rafter stated he has communicated with Ms. Ferland, believes
in her ability, and gives her his support.

Chair Bonser stated the information for support of one candidate over another has been split
50/50.

Mr. Carpenter stated he also received information that could be split 50/50. However, he
believes the majority of citizens are not aware of the situation and only the few who actively
participate have expressed their opinion. Mr. Carpenter stated he believes the citizens not aware
of this situation would be in support of Ms. Mills.

2 Approved as Amended
12/3/2012



Minutes
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting
November 19, 2012

Chair Bonser called the vote.
Vote: 3 — 0 in favor of Ms. Gail Mills.

Chair Bonser thanked everyone for attending and offering their input, reminding everyone there
would be an election in three months.

APPOINTMENTS: 7:00 pm: Library Trustees/Library Budget, 7:15 pm: Board of
Assessors/Assessing Contract, 7:30 pm: BOS/Conservation Committee Kennard Road/Property
Purchase Hearing

7:00 pm: Ms. Legard completed introductions and stated the Trustees have decided they want to
periodically update the Selectmen on activities at the Library.

Ms. Capron completed a review of the Library budget. There were slight increases in salaries at
an approximate 2%. If the amount at 2% equaled $0.23 the raise amount was increased to $0.25.
Ms. Legard stated the 4% increase for the Director is to compensate her for her activities at the
Library in addition to a survey of comparable communities Library Directors. Ms. Capron's
salary falls below surrounding local average and the Trustees want to bring her more to the
middle of the pay scale. There were no performance awards.

Mr. Carpenter stated he agreed that Ms. Capron did a phenomenal job at the library.

Ms. Capron stated she believed the operating budget would be reduced but additional
information is needed. Ms. Capron reviewed the individual operating lines. General discussion
took place about the actual 2011 expenses and how close they came to the projected budget. Ms.
Capron stated some money was returned to the town from 2011. Mr. Brown stated historically
the Library Budget has been very close between budget and expense amounts.

It was stated another Library Trustee meeting would be needed to discuss any final budget
amounts and any potential changes.

Mr. Rafter asked about the amount in the telephone line. Ms. Capron stated the telephone
amount comes from Mr. Brown. Mr. Brown stated the Town has been with a new contractor the
last two years and final telephone amounts will be entered at the end of the year. After
discussion the decision was made to reduce the telephone line by approximately $500.00 or
more.

There were no additional questions. Mr. Carpenter thanked them for attending and Chair Bonser
reminded them of their meeting with the Budget Committee on November 29, 2012 at about 7:00
pm.

7:15 pm: Mr. Reed, Board of Assessor’s Chair presented the proposed 2013 multi year contract
to the Selectmen. Chair Bonser recused herself from the situation of voting on the Assessing
Contract due to conflict of her personal property tax appeal.

Ms. Seaverns reviewed the approved recommendations of the Board of Assessors of the renewal
contract with Avitar Associates. Avitar has served the Town well since their return in 2011; they
did not produce the values currently under appeal, which were completed by the previous firm
CNP. The Avitar proposal spreads out the billing burden throughout the year with even monthly
billing rather than some smaller monthly bills and then significantly larger data collection bills
and there is a clause that allows for contract cancellation if the amount isn't approved at town
meeting.

3 Approved as Amended
12/3/2012



Minutes
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting
November 19, 2012

Ms. Seaverns reviewed the prior submission of assessing proposals. Avitar was not the highest
or lowest, but fell in the middle area of pricing.

Mr. Rafter asked if the level funding would remain the same for the next three years. Ms.
Seaverns stated the price would remain the same.

Mr. Carpenter asked how much the actual appeal work budget would total. Ms. Seaverns stated
it depends on the number of appeals and there have been more appeal work hours needed.

Mr. Reed stated Ms. Seaverns has taken on many of the day to day tasks and responsibilities and
is supportive of acceptance of the Avitar proposal for the three years. The quality of work from
the previous company did not meet expectations. Mr. Reed stated although he has had prior
personal issues with Avitar, they have consistently offered Nottingham great service.

Mr. Rafter asked if the decision to support the agreement was unanimous by the Board of
Assessors. Mr. Reed stated it was.

Mr. Duffy reviewed his history of living and being involved with Nottingham property, and
while not a current resident he does not believe Avitar is the best selection.

Mr. Reed asked if information from a non-resident should be considered on matters of budget
and Town services. Mr. Rafter asked if Mr. Duffy had any connection to the Town.

Mr. Duffy reviewed his involvement regarding the Town with activity on the PLIA and
assistance with Nottingham valuation appeals. Mr. Rafter stated it isn't accepting testimony only
public comments and agreed to let Mr. Duffy speak.

Mr. Duffy continued reviewing the history of special property assessment review of property
surrounding Pawtuckaway Lake. Mr. Duffy reported there are recent sales ten or more percent
lower than their current assessed values. Based on the history of revaluing property, it might be
possible for the lake properties to be re-assessed. The Selectmen should review other assessing
options.

Ms. Seaverns stated the Selectmen approved the 2007 update of values of properties on
Pawtuckaway Lake, the re-assessment being objected to, and the values were upheld as valid
with a NH DRA review. Any current values being appealed were completed by CNP and not
Avitar.

Mr. Marcy stated he was involved in the prior issues with Avitar and his concern was with non-
conforming lots. The issues were settled during the abatement and appeal process but still
believe the Town should consider other assessor options

Ms. Bonser stated Avitar is defending the current assessments. Ms. Bonser stated it is in her
opinion after reviewing the history of Pawtuckaway value issues, in addition to her recent
experience, there may be merit to the Pawtuckaway resident's complaints. There was a special
meeting regarding this issue in 2007 and per town vote; Avitar was released from their contract.
Despite continued support of Avitar by the Board of Assessors, concern of that decision and
personal experience, she urged the Selectmen to put the assessing out to bid. Ms. Bonser stated
she is frustrated because she feels she cannot get answers to how her property was valued.

Mr. Reed reviewed his personal history with Avitar and feelings of lack of methodology for
assessing in NH. There is no standard of establishing values from the state and probably never
will be; it is a complicated process. Mr. Reed stated there was a time when he was against
Avitar and understands Ms. Bonser's opinion. Assessing complaints were brought forward

4 Approved as Amended
12/3/2012



Minutes
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting
November 19, 2012

against Avitar and they were found to be unfounded by Mr. Steve Hamilton, Director of Property
Appraisal NH Department of Revenue.

Mr. Reed stated assessments are judged by a series of statistical tests completed on an annual
basis, by the assessor and NH DRA. Nottingham statistics fall within the prescribed numbers,
both ratio and Coefficient of Dispersion (COD). Reviewing the sale price of current properties,
calculating the estimated value of each component of each section of the property, both building
and land, establishing both a land and building value, and then applying the information based on
data collected regarding each individual property allows the values to be established.

Mr. Reed continued stated part of the current problem with Ms. Bonser’s property is denied
access to the property to establish the exact property specifics; when access isn't available
assumptions are made. The appraisal submitted by Mr. and Mrs. Bonser indicate inaccuracies
regarding the property data, but access has been denied.

Mr. Carpenter asked about the information from Mr. Marcy and non-conforming lots. Mr. Reed
stated he could not comment without the specifics. The system isn't perfect, Avitar isn't perfect,
but given everything the laws and rules require, Avitar is not doing a bad job, and it is unfair to
state that they are. Mr. Duffy sold his house for much more than it is assessed; however you
don't hear those stories only when the property sold for less than assessed.

Ms. Bonser stated by law taxpayers are not required to allow entrance to their property and the
physical data is only a small percentage of the problem. Ms. Bonser asked the Selectmen to
review the past activities and requested the process be put out to bid.

Ms. Kelley stated despite the unwillingness to dwell on the past the issue hasn't gone away.
Values on the lake have continued to increase, specifically the land, feels the assessor arbitrarily
selected a land value. While the special town meeting terminated the contract, the intent was to
remove them permanently.

Mr. Dufty requested the Selectmen to review all of the abatements from the re-assessment of
Pawtuckaway Lake properties.

Janice Lyle stated she thought the value used for her property was the selling price in 2007 and
despite values dropping for her neighbors in 2010, her value increased.

Mr. Reed stated if the Selectmen have any doubt about the decision to select Avitar they should
put it out to bid. Mr. Rafter stated the Avitar contract has received NH DRA approval

Ms. Seaverns stated her concern about the timeline for seeking new proposals and recommended
approval of the one year option; the current Avitar contract ends in 2012. Mr. Rafter asked if
Avitar would be willing to accept a one year contract at the same price. It was stated they would.

Mr. Carpenter stated after listening to discussion, it appears there is evidence Nottingham is
doing well with Avitar, the Board of Assessors supports signing the contract, the 2007
abatements and appeals versus the 2010 values that were completed by a different company. Mr.
Carpenter stated he wanted to review the information, is concerned from a budget point, but
would sit with Mr. Reed and Ms. Seaverns prior to making a decision. Mr. Carpenter asked if
the lake property values should be revalued.

Discussion took place about deadlines for signing the contract and it was decided the Selectmen
would review further information before making a decision.

5 Approved as Amended
12/3/2012



Minutes
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting
November 19, 2012

Mr. Fenn reviewed there were others upset with Avitar and there has been nothing said to select
Avitar, the Selectmen should consider possible competition.

The Selectmen delayed making a decision about signing the contract and Chair Bonser returned
to the board.

7:30 pm: Board of Selectmen/Conservation Kennard Road Property Purchase Hearing.
Chair Bonser opened the hearing at 8:25 pm with the Conservation Commission regarding the
purchase of property on Kennard Road from Mr. Ron Kennard.

Mr. Demerit reviewed the property information, acreages, location, and accessibility to and near
other conservation property. The value is based on Current Use assessment and is low; buildable
lots could bring in additional value, but there is a desire to place the land in conservation. Chair
Bonser asked about the easement. Mr. Demerit stated there isn't a current agreement for
easement but there is a plan to seek one.

Mr. Demerit reviewed the property characteristics. Chair Bonser asked if there were any special
deed requests regarding the purchase from Mr. Kennard. Mr. Demerit stated he didn't not know
if Mr. Kennard had any special requests regarding an easement, but he would review the most
recent information received.

Mr. Carpenter asked about the proposed Conservation Commission greenway. Mr. Demerit
stated it is still under consideration.

Ms. Smith stated the Conservation Commission has recommended meeting with a specialist to
determine a plan for best management of the forest and for animal protection, to address possible
restrictions on the deed.

There were no additional questions or discussion.
Chair Bonser closed the hearing at 8:35.

Motion: by Mr. Rafter, second by Mr. Carpenter to approve the Conservation purchase of M11
L6 on Kennard Road of 34 acres for $34,000.00.

Vote: 3-0
MANIFEST SIGNATURE:
Motion: by Mr. Rafter, second by Mr. Carpenter to approve the 11/19/12 manifest.

Vote: 3 - 0 in favor.
OUTSTANDING MINUTES: Approval of minutes was postponed.
General Business and Department Reports:

Pawtuckaway Lake Drawdown: Chair Bonser stated she liked the response from Mr. Brown to
Ms. Liz Kotowski about taking a position on the drawdown. Discussion took place about the
planned drawdown and review of conditions with a lower drawdown amount and potential
consequences over a couple of days. The Selectmen had continued concern about the change in
drawdown and the limited length of time for the trial run, especially where the lake is not yet
frozen. While DES is looking for feedback and photos with the planned test; it may not provide
enough of a response to judge what really happened.

Chair Bonser asked if the Selectmen should take a position regarding this issue, stating there is

no scientific data with changing the drawdown. Mr. Brown stated it is his understanding NH
DES will continue to monitor potential consequences to Pawtuckaway.

6 Approved as Amended
12/3/2012



Minutes
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting
November 19, 2012

Mr. Rafter stated the state controls water resources and what happens with the state owned lakes
and rivers.

Chair Bonser stated she wanted to re-inform NH DES about the Nottingham opposition to the
change in draw down.

Water Ordinance: Chair Bonser reported her review of the ordinance aquifer protection district
and after a comparison to the Town of Rye ordinance; it appears to be a good process. The
aquifer protection plan was needed in the Master Plan. Mr. Carpenter asked about the
consumptive water use plan also needed in the Master Plan and it still needs to be written.

Chair Bonser stated there is nothing mapped for bedrock aquifers and the aquifer protection
ordinance isn't applicable. The zoning portion needs a few changes, but will also be searching
for information on consumptive water plans. Mr. Brown stated the current changes may not stop
anything regarding the existing USA Springs options. An aquifer protective ordinance district
seems to trump anything for pre-existing use. Mr. Carpenter asked to get a copy of the
information.

Chair Bonser stated she compared the difference between the Nottingham plan and Rye plan and
one difference is to exempt Town owned salt sheds; Nottingham should rule by example and
should follow the same rules as all citizens.

Mr. Carpenter stated he spoke with Representative Tasker about the change of the language in
statute regarding a previously clarified statement by Chair Bonser. The change was specifically
to address large ground water withdrawal by a commercial entity and he suggested adding "non-
commercial large groundwater" to Representative Tasker.

Mr. Rafter stated he is concerned possible negative impact with that type of wording change. If
an adjacent town owns control over groundwater and they agree to let a commercial entity draw
water, there may be nothing Nottingham or the state could do about it.

General discussion took place about possible language changes. Mr. Carpenter stated he
believes with any potential changes considered, the process may ultimately lead back to
HB1853.

Mr. Carpenter asked to meet with the Representatives to discuss the issue. There was agreement
to scheduling a meeting on 12/3. Chair Bonser asked to also review the other Planning Board
changes to ordinance on12/3.

Office Closing: Mr. Brown stated he received a request to close the office for Monday,
December 24, Christmas Eve. Discussion took place and no decision was made.

Budget Committee/Town Department Meeting: Mr. Brown reviewed the schedule of when
Town Department Heads will meet with the Budget Committee.

Recycle Center Closing: General discussion took place about the responses being heard by the
Selectmen about the decision to change the operating days at the Recycle Center. There are
some who are unhappy, but there are also positive responses that the savings received by the
change is worth the fewer days.

Signs will be posted in all available locations as soon as possible.

Health Insurance: Mr. Brown reported an email was received about a different health plan from
LGC and another private insurance company meeting taking place the next week for
consideration of possible savings. More information would be available by the next meeting.

7 Approved as Amended
12/3/2012



Minutes
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting
November 19, 2012

LGC Refund: Chair Bonser reported there was a denial to the LGC about a hold to refund the
monies. Mr. Brown reported other town managers and administrators have spoken of the issue
and will be happy when the LGC will settle the issue.

Town Budgets: Mr. Brown stated he is completing a review of budget amounts and information
is being compiled to provide answers to the questions asked by the Budget Committee about the
first draft of the Town Budget. Mr. Brown and Mr. Carpenter stated they would discuss some of
the comment expressed by budget committee members about the town budget.

Mr. Carpenter stated this is a first draft of the town budget, which was mostly level funded.
Citizens need to know the school first draft budget was raised from $9.6 million dollars to
approximately $11 million dollars. Mr. Carpenter stated he is very unhappy with the school
budget given all the hard work the Town has done to keep its budget level funded and doesn't
understand the rationale with the significant school increase. Mr. Carpenter stated he has had
discussion with a principal from another similar size school and was told the increases were only
.7% over the last several years; there is something fundamentally wrong with the Nottingham
school budget.

ADJOURNMENT: Having no further business,

9:20 PM Motion: by Mr. Carpenter, second by Mr. Rafter to adjourn.
Vote: 3 - 0 in favor.

Respectfully Submitted,

Dawn Wirkkala

8 Approved as Amended
12/3/2012




<<

  /ASCII85EncodePages false

  /AllowTransparency false

  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true

  /AutoRotatePages /None

  /Binding /Left

  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)

  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error

  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4

  /CompressObjects /Tags

  /CompressPages true

  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true

  /PassThroughJPEGImages true

  /CreateJobTicket false

  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default

  /DetectBlends true

  /DetectCurves 0.0000

  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK

  /DoThumbnails false

  /EmbedAllFonts true

  /EmbedOpenType false

  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true

  /EmbedJobOptions true

  /DSCReportingLevel 0

  /EmitDSCWarnings false

  /EndPage -1

  /ImageMemory 1048576

  /LockDistillerParams false

  /MaxSubsetPct 100

  /Optimize true

  /OPM 1

  /ParseDSCComments true

  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true

  /PreserveCopyPage true

  /PreserveDICMYKValues true

  /PreserveEPSInfo true

  /PreserveFlatness true

  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false

  /PreserveOPIComments true

  /PreserveOverprintSettings true

  /StartPage 1

  /SubsetFonts true

  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply

  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve

  /UsePrologue false

  /ColorSettingsFile ()

  /AlwaysEmbed [ true

  ]

  /NeverEmbed [ true

  ]

  /AntiAliasColorImages false

  /CropColorImages true

  /ColorImageMinResolution 300

  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleColorImages true

  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /ColorImageResolution 300

  /ColorImageDepth -1

  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1

  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeColorImages true

  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterColorImages true

  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /ColorACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /ColorImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasGrayImages false

  /CropGrayImages true

  /GrayImageMinResolution 300

  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleGrayImages true

  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /GrayImageResolution 300

  /GrayImageDepth -1

  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2

  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeGrayImages true

  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterGrayImages true

  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /GrayACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /GrayImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasMonoImages false

  /CropMonoImages true

  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200

  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleMonoImages true

  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /MonoImageResolution 1200

  /MonoImageDepth -1

  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeMonoImages true

  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode

  /MonoImageDict <<

    /K -1

  >>

  /AllowPSXObjects false

  /CheckCompliance [

    /None

  ]

  /PDFX1aCheck false

  /PDFX3Check false

  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false

  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true

  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true

  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)

  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()

  /PDFXOutputCondition ()

  /PDFXRegistryName ()

  /PDFXTrapped /False



  /CreateJDFFile false

  /Description <<



    /BGR <>

    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>

    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>

    /CZE <>

    /DAN <>

    /DEU <>

    /ESP <>

    /ETI <>

    /FRA <>

    /GRE <>



    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)

    /HUN <>

    /ITA <>

    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>

    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>

    /LTH <>

    /LVI <>

    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)

    /NOR <>

    /POL <>

    /PTB <>

    /RUM <>

    /RUS <>

    /SKY <>

    /SLV <>

    /SUO <>

    /SVE <>

    /TUR <>

    /UKR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)

  >>

  /Namespace [

    (Adobe)

    (Common)

    (1.0)

  ]

  /OtherNamespaces [

    <<

      /AsReaderSpreads false

      /CropImagesToFrames true

      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue

      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false

      /IncludeGuidesGrids false

      /IncludeNonPrinting false

      /IncludeSlug false

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (InDesign)

        (4.0)

      ]

      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false

      /OmitPlacedEPS false

      /OmitPlacedPDF false

      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy

    >>

    <<

      /AddBleedMarks false

      /AddColorBars false

      /AddCropMarks false

      /AddPageInfo false

      /AddRegMarks false

      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK

      /DestinationProfileName ()

      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /Downsample16BitImages true

      /FlattenerPreset <<

        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution

      >>

      /FormElements false

      /GenerateStructure false

      /IncludeBookmarks false

      /IncludeHyperlinks false

      /IncludeInteractive false

      /IncludeLayers false

      /IncludeProfiles false

      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (CreativeSuite)

        (2.0)

      ]

      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /PreserveEditing true

      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile

      /UseDocumentBleed false

    >>

  ]

>> setdistillerparams

<<

  /HWResolution [2400 2400]

  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]

>> setpagedevice



